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Appellants and cross-appellees JBL Mortgage Network, LLC (“JBL”) and Brian

Blonder, part-owner of JBL (collectively, “Mortgage Brokers”), served as mortgage brokers

for appellee and cross-appellant Dennis Hollidayoke, a retired police officer, for two

mortgage loan transactions. In a subsequent foreclosure action upon Hollidayoke’s home,

Hollidayoke filed a third party complaint against the Mortgage Brokers, among other

defendants, alleging violations of the Real Estate Settlement Procedures Act (“RESPA”),1

the Maryland Consumer Protection Act (“CPA”),  and the Finder’s Fee Act (“FFA”).  A jury2 3

found in Hollidayoke’s favor and awarded him damages under each statute.  The Mortgage

Brokers seek our review of rulings of the Circuit Court for Anne Arundel County which

denied their motions for judgment and partially denied their Motion Notwithstanding the

Verdict, New Trial, and/or Remitter. The circuit court also reduced an award of attorney’s

fees.  Hollidayoke filed a motion to revise, which was denied, and Hollidayoke now cross-

appeals this denial. We affirm in part and reverse in part.

FACTS 

In the fall of 2006, Hollidayoke, then age 72, responded to an advertisement to attend

a retirement seminar and free dinner at a restaurant in Edgewater. At the dinner, a

representative of Retirement Planning Systems (“RPS”) delivered a presentation on the

12 U.S.C. § 2601 et seq. 1

Md. Code (1975, 2013 Repl. Vol), Commercial Law Article (“CL”), § 13-301 et seq. 2

CL § 12-801 et seq.3
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“Swan Program.”  RPS described the Swan Program as an investment opportunity where the

investor did not have to make a mortgage payment for five years. The Mortgage Brokers

were not represented at the dinner and were technically not affiliated with RPS or the Swan

Program, but Blonder testified that he sat in on “one or two” of the Swan Program seminars

in the past. RPS’s principal Mike Steranka  also worked for JBL during the period in which4

Hollidayoke took out his loans. Additionally, Blonder and Steranka were co-owners of the

building that contained the offices of JBL and RPS.

Hollidayoke testified that when he met with Steranka about the Swan Program,

Steranka told him that Blonder “was [an] affiliated mortgage broker. [He] [s]aid if I’d go

down and see him, he’ll take care of me. It’s all set up.” Hollidayoke went to meet with

Blonder that day. Hollidayoke testified: 

Well, I told [Blonder] I still hadn’t figured out the Swan

Program. I was a little bit scared of it, but I didn’t know if he

thought this thing was really a good program because he dealt

with it evidently with them. And he told me he didn’t think I

could – I had to do it. I pretty much had no other choice because

I had this valuable property that was sitting there and it could be

working for me and I could be bringing some money in.

He also testified that Blonder made the representation that Hollidayoke “lived in the bubble

area here in Annapolis and I could get at least 7 to 7.5 percent increase on my property every

year or more.” Blonder told Hollidayoke to think it over and come back the next day. 

Steranka’s name is also spelled as “Strenka” in the parties’ briefs.4
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I. 2006 Loan

On September 25, 2006, Hollidayoke met with Blonder to obtain a mortgage loan.

Blonder testified that Hollidayoke asked for a mortgage because he wanted to pull the equity

out of his home in Annapolis and move to Florida. Blonder testified that Hollidayoke did not

inform him that the loan was to be used to make investments through the Swan Program, and

that Blonder did not know any specifics about the Swan Program. On October 5, Hollidayoke

and JBL entered into a loan financing agreement and a mortgage loan origination agreement.

Hollidayoke also completed a Uniform Residential Loan Application. Hollidayoke

indicated on the form that his monthly income was $5,750.00, and Blonder testified that he

did not verify this because that would be the underwriter’s obligation.  In October of 2006,

Hollidayoke closed on the mortgage loan. He received a Truth in Lending statement, which

confirmed that the borrower received a copy of and understood the statement. The statement

also showed what the payments would be for the loan. Hollidayoke also received a fee

agreement that showed the fees owed at closing were $550.00. 

The loan was a payment-option adjustable rate mortgage, meaning it was a mortgage

where the value of the mortgage typically only goes up. The loan permitted Hollidayoke to

pay less than the amount necessary to fully amortize the loan. It was offered as a one percent

loan for the first month. On the loan financing agreement, Hollidayoke selected “lock-in” and

the document appeared to indicate that the rate was one percent. The fully indexed rate of

seven and a half percent for subsequent months was not identified in that document. The one
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percent rate changed to one and one-quarter percent by the time of closing. When asked

whether the lock-in meant anything when Hollidayoke first signed, Blonder testified “Not

really, no.”

Hollidayoke also signed a “controlled business disclosure form,” which

recommended, but did not require, that he use Integrity Settlement Services (“Integrity”), as

the title company. This form disclosed that the owners of JBL had an interest in Integrity, but

did not disclose that Blonder was an owner of JBL. In fact, the three LLC members of JBL,

including Blonder, each had a fifteen percent interest in Integrity. The remaining fifty-five

percent belonged to Millard Rubenstein, owner of Resource Title.

Hollidayoke admitted that he did not read anything that he signed for the loans. He

had three days after the closing to rescind if he wished. After the expiration of the three-day

“right to rescind” period, Hollidayoke received the loan amount of $375,000.00. Hollidayoke

used the proceeds of the loan to pay off his existing mortgage of $60,929.57 and other debts.5

Additionally, the proceeds were also used to pay settlement charges of $5,796.00 for title and

taxes. The net proceeds of $282,323.46 went to Hollidayoke’s bank account. He then wrote

a check to RPS to purchase investments in the amount of $269,000.00. Through RPS,

His debts included approximately $15,789.00, $1,252.00 and $2,845.00 owed to the5

Navy Federal Credit Union, and $5,981.00 and $310.00 owed to other entities.
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Hollidayoke invested in a brokerage account and in three annuities, from which he still

receives payments.6

II. 2007 Refinance Loan

In 2007, Hollidayoke stopped by JBL to give Blonder a souvenir from his recent visit

to Florida. At that time, Blonder offered to refinance the 2006 Loan to make it a fixed rate

instead of an adjustable rate loan. Blonder did not tell Hollidayoke that the 2006 Loan had

a pre-payment penalty. Hollidayoke testified that Blonder told him that “he thought he could

save me a lot of money.” When Hollidayoke asked Blonder whether the refinance would

affect the Swan Program, Blonder indicated that it would not be a problem.

On May 3, 2007, Hollidayoke entered into another loan financing agreement and

mortgage loan origination agreement with JBL, which refinanced the existing debt of the

2006 Loan with a fixed interest rate. On May 23, Hollidayoke closed on the 2007 Refinance

Loan, which again provided a three-day “right to rescind” period. JBL gave Hollidayoke a

$3,000.00 credit against closing costs. When asked if anybody explained the papers to him,

Hollidayoke testified, “No. They just had a lot of papers there, a stack of them and [Blonder]

said, just go ahead and sign them papers. Don’t worry about reading them, because we’ll be

here for another couple days. I wouldn’t have understood them anyhow.”  Later in his

testimony, Hollidayoke also testified that Blonder never told him not to read the papers.

Hollidayoke owns a $41,035.00 annuity with Great American Life Insurance6

Company; a $116,146.00 annuity with RBC Insurance; and a $39,816.00 annuity with RBC

Insurance.

5



In the fall of 2009, Hollidayoke began receiving charges for insurance and taxes from

the mortgage servicer. He became frustrated with these charges because he believed he

already had insurance.  Hollidayoke went back to RPS to complain, and he was told they

were no longer making any mortgage payments on his behalf. RPS explained to Hollidayoke

that there was not enough cash to continue to make the mortgage payments, because

Hollidayoke had pulled out cash to live on, which required him to now pay the mortgage

payments directly. Hollidayoke testified that he thought the annuity money would never be

touched, and “[c]ome to find out they had been drawing it anyhow and me taking it and

putting in my bank account.” In effect, the Swan Program only delivered three years of

mortgage payments instead of five years as promised. RPS told Hollidayoke that he had

signed a document that said they were not responsible for making the payments.

Eventually, Hollidayoke stopped making mortgage payments on the 2007 Refinance

Loan based on advice from counsel. The mortgage totaled $425,000.00 and Hollidayoke’s

house was underwater. The mortgage company started sending foreclosure letters, and by the

time of oral argument, the home had been foreclosed upon. Hollidayoke still had annuities

with a cash surrender value of $38,868.58 and $123,179.59; he also had $50,723.56 in his

bank account. 

As to the effect of the foreclosure, Hollidayoke testified that he felt terrible:

“Naturally I had – I had been, emotional problems I guess you’d call it . . . I mean, I have

been through a lot. It took a lot out of me, physically I guess. Because I’m getting old. I used
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to be pretty tough. Emotionally, I think it hurt me bad, yeah.” He indicated he was

devastated, embarrassed, upset and withdrawn.

Since making the loans to Hollidayoke, both JBL and Integrity have gone out of

business. Blonder was hired by a different company, Christensen Financial (“Christensen”),7

where he was doing business as JBL in name only. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On March 21, 2010, a foreclosure action was instituted against Hollidayoke. On

May 12, 2010 Hollidayoke filed a Verified Third Party Complaint and Demand for Jury Trial

in the foreclosure action against the Mortgage Brokers and Christensen. On October 12, the

court bifurcated this claim from the foreclosure action. On December 27, Hollidayoke

amended the complaint by adding new defendants and causes of action. The new defendants

were RPS, Steranka, and investment advisor H. Beck, Inc. (“H. Beck”). In the complaint, he

alleged a violation of the CPA (“CPA claim”), negligence, and conspiracy against all

defendants. He also alleged a violation of the FFA (“FFA claim”) and a violation of RESPA

(“RESPA claim”) against the Mortgage Brokers and Christensen. Finally, Hollidayoke

alleged a violation of the Maryland Securities Act  against RPS, Steranka, and H. Beck.8

On February 24, 2011, the Mortgage Brokers and Christensen moved to dismiss all

claims relating to the 2006 Loan because of the statute of limitations. They also moved to

The parties alternatively spell “Christensen” as “Christianston.”7

Md. Code (1975, 2007 Repl. Vol.), Corporations and Associations Article, § 11-1018

et seq.
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dismiss the RESPA claim for both loans. Christensen filed a motion stating that it was not

the legal successor in interest to JBL. On March 20, the court denied all of these motions. On

July 12, Hollidayoke entered into a joint tortfeasor release with H. Beck. In September,

Hollidayoke entered into another joint tortfeasor release with RPS and Sterenka.  On9

August 4, Hollidayoke filed a Stipulation of Dismissal with Prejudice as to H. Beck, and on

September 14, Hollidayoke filed a Stipulation of Dismissal with Prejudice as to RPS and

Steranka. Finally, Hollidayoke also stipulated to a dismissal of the conspiracy claim against

all defendants.

In May 2012, the court held a six-day jury trial. Christensen filed a motion for

judgment and the court dismissed Christensen as a defendant. Hollidayoke voluntarily

dismissed the negligence claim against the defendants. This left just three claims against the

Mortgage Brokers, which after the denial of motions for judgment, went to the jury: the CPA

claim, the FFA claim, and the RESPA claim.

On May 9, the jury awarded $342,103.40 in damages to Hollidayoke.  The jury also10

answered the following question: “In what month and year do you find Mr. Hollidayoke

 The release provided that H. Beck would be considered an RPS released party. 9

For the 2006 loan, the jury awarded $16,000.00 in economic damages for the CPA10

claim, $18,897.75 in damages for the FFA claim (trebled from $6,299.25), and $37,941.15

in damages for the RESPA claim (trebled from $12,647.05).

For the 2007 refinance loan, the jury awarded $70,000.00 in economic damages and

$150,000.00 in non-economic damages for the CPA claim, $14,490.00 for the FFA claim

(trebled from $4,830.00), and $34,774.50 in damages for the RESPA claim (trebled from

$11,591.50).
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actually knew or should have reasonably known of the injury or damage done to him by the

Defendants?” and said “September 2009.” On the same day, May 9th, a judgment was

entered and recorded.

On May 15, the Mortgage Brokers filed a Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the

Verdict, New Trial, and/or Remitter. They contended that the jury incorrectly calculated

damages under the RESPA claim and improperly included charges of “settlement services.”

The Mortgage Brokers also asserted that for the CPA claim, there should have been a pro rata

reduction of damages due to the joint tortfeasor releases entered into by Hollidayoke with H.

Beck, RPS, and Steranka. Finally, the Mortgage Brokers argued that the non-economic

damage award of $150,000.00 was excessive. On June 21, before the circuit court ruled on

the Mortgage Brokers’ motion, they filed their Notice of Appeal from the judgment of

May 9.

On June 4, Hollidayoke filed a motion for award of attorney’s fees and costs in the

amount of $199,885.97. On September 26, the court held a hearing on all of the motions.

On December 11, the court entered an order granting the Mortgage Brokers’ motion

in part and granting Hollidayoke’s motion in part. The court decreased the award because it

determined that the Uniform Contribution Among Joint Tort-Feasors Act (“UCATA”)11

applied to a successful CPA claim. The court also reduced the RESPA judgment because it

Md. Code (1973, 2013 Repl. Vol.), Courts and Judicial Proceedings Article (CJP)11

§ 3-1401 et seq.
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determined that the jury failed to follow instructions by including certain settlement service

charges in its award. As a result, the previous judgment was reduced to $217,727.62, which

included the judgment in favor of Hollidayoke in the amount of $137,772.65 and attorney’s

fees and costs in the amount of $79,954.97. 

On December 26, more than ten days after the order, Hollidayoke filed a motion to

alter or amend. On February 26, 2013, he filed a supplemental statement in support of his

motion.  On March 7, 2013, the court denied the motion and concluded that the December

2012 judgment was correct. On March 8, Hollidayoke filed a Notice of Appeal.  The court12

consolidated the two appeals. Additional facts will be provided as necessary in our discussion

of the issues.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

The Mortgage Brokers present the following questions:

1. Whether the Trial Court erred in failing to grant
Appellants’ motion for judgment because the RESPA
Claim is barred by the applicable Statute of Limitations?

2. Whether the Trial Court erred in failing to grant
Appellants’ motion for judgment because there is no
basis for a claim to be made under HUD Policy
Statement 1996-2, and no evidence was presented to
support such a claim?

Because Hollidayoke’s motion to alter or amend was filed more than 10 days after12

the December 11, 2012 judgment, his time for appealing that judgment was not stayed.  Md.

Rule 8-202(c).  However, even if untimely as to that judgment, his appeal was timely with

respect to issues raised in his motion to alter or amend and rejected by the circuit court in

March of 2013.
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3. Whether the Trial Court erred in failing to grant
Appellants’ motion for judgment because the CPA
Claim arising from the 2006 loan is barred by the Statue
of Limitations?

4. Whether the Trial Court erred in failing to grant
Appellants’ motion for judgment because Appellee has
asserted no actionable misrepresentations under the
Maryland Consumer Protection Act?

5. Whether the Trial Court erred in improperly instructing
the jury  and in failing to grant Appellants’ motion for13

judgment because Appellee[s] failed to show an
objectively ascertainable, accompanying or
consequential physical injury to support emotional
distress damages; and Appellee failed to present any
evidence of malice on the part of the Appellants?

6. Whether the Trial Court erred in failing to grant
Appellants’ motion for judgment because the alleged
misrepresentations of Appellants with respect to the
2007 loan have no causal nexus to the damages awarded
by the jury?

7. Whether the Trial Court erred in failing to grant
Appellants’ motion for judgment because Blonder has
no liability, as a matter of law, under the FFA claim?

8. Whether a new trial should be granted or should
Appellee be required to remit the compensatory damage
award because the amount of compensatory damages
awarded in this case was grossly excessive and
unsupported by the record?

The Mortgage Brokers make no argument in their initial brief regarding allegedly13

improper jury instructions.  Therefore, we decline to address this issue.  See Abbott v. State,

190 Md. App. 595, 631-32 n.14 (2010).
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Hollidayoke asks us to address the following questions:

1. Did the Mortgage Defendants preserve for appeal certain
issues raised for the first time in their post-trial motion
and opening appellate brief?

2. Did Appellant present sufficient evidence to the trier of
fact to support the circuit court’s denials of the Mortgage
Defendants’ Motions for Directed Verdict?14

3. Are injuries or losses awarded under the Maryland
Consumer Protection Act subject to reduction pursuant
to the limited purpose of the Uniform Contribution
Among Joint Tort-Feasors Act?

4. Are attorney’s fees and costs awarded under the
Maryland Consumer Protection Act considered
damages?

5. Can a jury award damages based on the broker premiums
and recordation taxes under the Real Estate Settlement
Procedures Act?

For reasons set forth below, we affirm the decision of the circuit court with respect

to the RESPA and CPA claims. As to the FFA claim, we find the court erred in not granting

the Mortgage’s Brokers’ motion. Finally, in our view, except for a RESPA damage reduction,

the reductions in damages have not been shown to be erroneous.

Additionally, Hollidayoke requested that we seal Volumes VI and VII of the Record

Extract from public view because it contains confidential information related to Hollidayoke.

We grant this motion.

Under the Maryland Rules, a party may move for judgment, but not for a directed14

verdict. Md. Rule 2-579.
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DISCUSSION

I. Standard of Review

An appellate court reviews de novo the denial of a motion for judgment in a civil case,

applying the same standard as the circuit court. Ayala v. Lee, 215 Md. App. 457, 467 (2013).

The evidence and reasonable inferences drawn are viewed in the light most favorable to the

non-moving party. Id. If there was any evidence, no matter how slight, that was legally

sufficient to generate a jury question, the denial of the motion will be upheld. Id.

In a case tried by jury, we review a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict

by assuming “the truth of all credible evidence on the issue, and all fairly deducible

inferences therefrom, in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion is

made.” Orwick v. Moldawer, 150 Md. App. 528, 531 (2003) (Citations omitted).

“In general, the denial of a motion to alter or amend a judgment or for reconsideration

is reviewed by appellate courts for abuse of discretion.” Miller v. Mathias, 428 Md. 419, 438

(2012) (Citations omitted). In applying this standard, we have “recognized that trial judges

do not have discretion to apply inappropriate legal standards, even when making decisions

that are regarded as discretionary in nature.” Id. (Citations omitted).

When we review legal issues, such as a question of statutory interpretation, we do so

under a de novo standard of review.  Schisler v. State, 394 Md. 519, 535 (2006).
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II. RESPA Claim

Congress enacted RESPA after finding that aspects of the real estate settlement

process needed to be reformed, “to insure that consumers throughout the Nation are provided

with greater and more timely information on the nature and costs of the settlement process

and are protected from unnecessarily high settlement charges caused by certain abusive

practices that have developed in some areas of the country.” 12 U.S.C. § 2601(a).

Hollidayoke’s RESPA claim concerned the Mortgage Brokers’ relationship with Integrity, 

alleged illegal kickbacks, unearned fees and nondisclosure of common ownership.  12 U.S.C.

§ 2607. 

A. Statute of Limitations

The Mortgage Brokers contend that the RESPA claim is barred by the applicable

statute of limitations because the claim was not brought within one year from the date of the

occurrence of the alleged violation. See 12 U.S.C. § 2614. They argue that the date of

violation occurred when Hollidayoke was put on notice that Integrity was an affiliated

business partner of JBL in October of 2006 for the 2006 Loan and May of 2007 for the 2007

Refinance Loan.

Hollidayoke argues that the jury determined he did not know until September 2009

that he was injured, and that the Mortgage Brokers did not present any argument contrary to

this finding. Hollidayoke asserts that even if the Mortgage Brokers’ argument is valid,

RESPA’s statute of limitations is subject to the doctrine of equitable tolling. He argues that
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equitable tolling is available when there is excusable delay by the plaintiff, and when a

reasonable plaintiff would have known of the claim within the limitations period.  In reply,

the Mortgage Brokers assert that the issue of equitable tolling was not presented to the jury,

and Hollidayoke did not object to its absence from the jury instructions.

First, we must determine whether the Mortgage Brokers’ defense of statute of

limitations is properly before us.  The Brokers’ Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the

Verdict did not raise a RESPA statute of limitations issue. However, the Mortgage Brokers

raised the issue in their Motion for Judgment at the conclusion of Hollidayoke’s case and the

court made an oral ruling on May 7 denying the motion specifically with respect to

limitations. We find that the Mortgage Brokers raised the issue in this Motion for Judgment,

and as well as at other points in the litigation.  Hollidayoke was clearly on notice of the15

limitations issue, and it is properly before us.

Next, we must determine the date of the violation. Section 2607 of RESPA prohibits

kickbacks and unearned fees. A claim based on § 2607 must be brought within one year from

The Mortgage Brokers argued limitations in their September 30, 2010 Motion to15

Dismiss the complaint, in their February 24, 2011 Motion to Dismiss the amended complaint,

and in their February 6, 2012 Supplemental Grounds and Authority in Support of their

motion with respect to the RESPA claim. The Mortgage Brokers argued against equitable

tolling of the statute of limitations in their April 14, 2012 Response to Hollidayoke’s

Opposition to their Supplemental Grounds and Authorities. Finally, in their amended answer,

the Mortgage Brokers asserted that the claims were barred by applicable contractual or

statutory limitations periods. 
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the date of the violation. 12 U.S.C. § 2614.  After receiving an instruction from the court,16 17

the jury, in a special verdict, found that Hollidayoke actually knew or should have reasonably

known of the injury or damage done to him by the Mortgage Brokers in September 2009. The

initial third party complaint was filed on May 12, 2010, less than one year later. 

Federal courts which have examined RESPA limitations issues have generally found

that a cause of action under § 2607 for the types of claims asserted here accrues on the date

of the closing. See Carter v. Bank of Am., N.A., 888 F. Supp. 2d 1, 25 (D.D.C. 2012); Palmer

v. Homecomings Fin. LLC, 677 F. Supp. 2d 233, 237 (D.D.C. 2010). This issue was

U.S.C. § 2614 states:16

Any action pursuant to the provisions of section 2605, 2607, or

2608 of this title may be brought in the United States district

court or in any other court of competent jurisdiction, for the

district in which the property involved is located, or where the

violation is alleged to have occurred, within 3 years in the case

of a violation of section 2605 of this title and 1 year in the case

of a violation of section 2607 or 2608 of this title from the date

of the occurrence of the violation, except that actions brought by

the Bureau, the Secretary, the Attorney General of any State, or

the insurance commissioner of any State may be brought within

3 years from the date of the occurrence of the violation.

The court told the jury:17

One of the questions that you’re going to be asked to find - - to

make a finding on is when the Plaintiff’s cause of action

accrued.  A cause of action, that is the right to file a claim,

accrues when the Plaintiff knows or by reasonably diligent

investigation should have known of the injury or damage.

The Mortgage Brokers lodged no specific exception to this instruction. 
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discussed in depth in Snow v. First Am. Title Ins. Co., 332 F.3d 356 (5th Cir. 2003). There,

the Court found that “[t]he phrase ‘the date of the occurrence of the violation’ refers to the

closing . . . because that is when the agents earned the allegedly prohibited ‘thing of value.’”

Id. at 359. The Snow Court explained that because § 2614 allows different limitations periods

for different types of violations, allowing different accrual dates “would negate Congress’s

decision to impose three different limitation periods in § 2614. We are obliged, however, to

preserve these policy choices.” Id. Additionally, the Snow court noted that RESPA is directed

toward the closing date, because that is when the plaintiff has a complete cause of action. Id.

at 359-60.

Some courts have considered the time limitation in § 2607 to be a jurisdictional

requirement, not subject to equitable tolling. See, e.g., Harden v. City Title & Escrow Co.,

797 F. 2d 1037, 1039 (D.C. Cir. 1986); Chen v. Bell-Smith, 768 F. Supp. 2d 121, 149 (D.D.C.

2011); Vanderbilt Mortgage & Fin., Inc. v. Flores, 735 F. Supp. 2d 679, 694-95 (S.D. Tex.

2010).  Among other things, these courts look to the time limitations’ statutory heading18

titled “Jurisdiction of the Courts,” as evidence that it is a jurisdictional requirement.  Chen,

768 F. Supp. 2d at 149.  This description was added by Congress, not a codifier.  Hardin, 797

F.2d at 1039.  However, it is settled law that captions and headings cannot control the plain

If the one-year limitation runs from the dates of closings and the statute is regarded18

as jurisdictional, Hollidayoke’s RESPA claim would be barred.  
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meaning of a statute.  Brotherhood of Railway Trainmen v. B&O R. Co., 331 U.S. 519, 528-

29 (1947); and State v. Holton, 420 Md. 530, 539 (2011).  

The majority of courts that had considered the issue have held that the one-year

limitation of  § 2607 is not jurisdictional and that equitable tolling applies.  See Egerer v.

Woodland Realty, Inc., 556 F.3d 415, 421 (6th Circ. 2009); Lawyers Title Ins. Corp. v.

Dearborn Title Corp., 118 F.3d 1157, 1166 (7th Cir. 1997); Minter v. Wells Fargo Bank,

N.A., 675 F. Supp. 2d 591, 594-95 (D. Md. 2009); Carr v. Home Tech Co., Inc., 476 F. Supp.

2d 859, 869 (W.D. Tenn. 2007); Mullinax v. Radian Guar. Inc., 199 F. Supp. 2d 311, 328

(M.D.N.C. 2002); Pedraza v. United Guar. Corp., 114 F. Supp. 2d 1347, 1353 (S.D. Ga.

2000); Kerby v. Mortg. Funding Corp., 992 F. Supp. 787, 793-96 (D. Md. 1998); Moll v.

United States Title Ins. Co., 700 F. Supp. 1284, 1286089 (S.D.N.Y. 1988).  In our view, it

would be anomalous to read a limitations period in a statute intended to prevent fraud in real

estate transactions as precluding equitable tolling premised on what amounts to fraudulent

conduct.  Therefore, we reject this contention of the Mortgage Brokers.

Next, the Mortgage Brokers argue that the issue of equitable tolling was never

presented to the jury in either facts or instructions.  The record belies this argument.   

The jury was specifically instructed that a cause of action accrues when the plaintiff

knows or by reasonably diligent investigation should have known of the injury or damage. 

The verdict sheet directed the jury to make a finding with respect to that issue.  And,
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Hollidayoke’s counsel in his closing argument summarized the evidence he believed

supported a finding that the cause of action accrued in September of 2009.19

In our view, although the words, “equitable tolling” may not have been mentioned to

the jurors, the issue was there in the form of an instruction, a verdict sheet and the facts

The closing statement noted: 19

Now, the last thing I want to talk about in closing is when did

Mr. Hollidayoke know or should have reasonably have known

about what happened.  The testimony that was before you that’s

uncontradicted is that he didn’t know.  He didn’t understand the

loans.  He didn’t know about negative amortization.  He didn’t

understand the loan situation.  Their employee, through another

company, [was] making payments on the loan.  Mr. Hollidayoke

wasn’t making those payments, not until September 2009, and

you have in evidence his fax to AHMSI saying stop with the

insurance issue.  That’s the triggering event, September 2009. 

And he communicated with them on three times I think is what

his oral testimony was and you have a copy of one of those faxes

saying knock this off.  I’m paying my insurance.  I’m paying my

taxes.  He provided them evidence.  What did he do next?  He

went to Mr. Steranka and Mr. Steranka wanted him to sign some

paperwork is what the testimony was that was before you to take

over the loan payments.  He also talked to Mr. Blonder and Mr.

Blonder told him, don’t worry about.  Let the bank take the hit. 

Mr. Blonder represented let the bank take the hit.  He engaged

a realtor to help him.  He engaged counsel.  We think that the

evidence shows he didn’t actually know certainly of any

irregularity with this transaction until - - and - - and should not

have reasonably known considering the facts of this case until

September 2009.  So you’re going to be asked on the verdict

sheet when did he know and I looking at the evidence and

considering the evidence that’s before you that’s the fate that we

would ask you to consider putting in there, September 2009. 
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presented to and argued before the jury.   Thus, the RESPA claim was not barred by20

limitations. 

B. Private Right of Action/HUD Policy Statement 1996-2

Over the Mortgage Brokers’ objection, the jurors were instructed about RESPA’s

provision regarding affiliated business entities and the HUD Policy’s factors that determine

whether such an entity is bona fide or a sham.  The Mortgage Brokers argue that it “is very

unclear” whether HUD Policy Statement 1996-2 “provides a basis for a cause of action.” 

They also contend that the evidence as to those factors cuts in their favor.  We disagree.

Congress expressed that one purpose of RESPA is to eliminate “kickbacks or referral

fees that tend to increase unnecessarily the costs of certain settlement services.” 12 U.S.C.

§ 2601(b)(2). RESPA does not allow kickbacks for referrals for business related to part of

a real estate settlement service involving mortgage loans. 12 U.S.C. § 2607(a).  However,

RESPA allows an affiliated business arrangement (ABA), i.e., an arrangement in which

a person who is in a position to refer business incident to or a

part of a real estate settlement service involving a federally

related mortgage loan, or an associate of such person, has either

an affiliate relationship with or a direct or beneficial ownership

interest of more than 1 percent in a provider of settlement

services. 

12 U.S.C. § 2602(7). These affiliated business arrangements are not prohibited so long as a

disclosure is made to the person being referred, the person is given a written estimate of the

 The Mortgage Brokers have not argued that there was no factual basis for a finding20

of equitable tolling. 
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charges, and the person is not required to use any particular provider of settlement services.

12 U.S.C. § 2607(c). Additionally, the “only thing of value that is received from the

arrangement, other than the payments permitted under this subsection [that are not applicable

in this case], is a return on the ownership interest or franchise relationship.” Id.

In enacting RESPA, Congress did not intend for affiliated business arrangements “to

be used to promote referral fee payments through sham arrangements or shell entities.”

Statement of Policy 1996-2 Regarding Sham Controlled Business Arrangements, 61 Fed.

Reg. 29258, 29261-62 (June 7, 1996) (24 C.F.R. pt. 3500).  The Department of Housing and

Urban Development issued the Policy Statement, which sets forth ten factors “to determine

whether a controlled business arrangement is a sham under [RESPA] or whether it constitutes

a bona fide provider of settlement services.”  Id. 

As the Mortgage Brokers point out, “[i]t is unclear from the Jury Verdict sheet

whether the jury found [the Mortgage Brokers] liable under the RESPA claim due to the

violation of 12 U.S.C. § 2607 [for kickbacks], or due to the status of Integrity as an alleged

‘sham entity under HUD Policy Statement 1996-2.’” The Mortgage Brokers contend that it

would be error if the jury found the Mortgage Brokers liable as a sham entity under the

Policy Statement, because they argue that a violation of the statement does not create a

private right of action. 

The Mortgage Brokers also note that Hollidayoke signed the Controlled Business

Arrangement Disclosure Statement which disclosed that the owners of JBL had an ownership
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interest in Integrity, that referrals may benefit the owners of JBL, and that Hollidayoke was

not required to use Integrity as a condition for settlement. This was signed on October 5,

2006 for the 2006 Loan and May 3, 2007 for the 2007 Refinance Loan.

Hollidayoke contends that he presented significant evidence on whether Integrity was

a “bona fide” affiliated entity through testimony of Blonder and others at trial. He explains

that courts should give considerable weight to “an executive department’s construction of a

statutory scheme it is entrusted to administer.”

In our view, the Mortgage Brokers misstate the relevant private right of action inquiry. 

RESPA creates a private right of action.  The issues addressed by other courts is whether a

failure to satisfy the requirements of 12 U.S.C. 2607(c)(4) establishes an independent basis

for liability and whether implicit (or explicit) in the statute is the requirement that the ABA

be a bona fide provider of the settlement services.  If the answer to these questions is yes,

then the HUD Policy is a helpful device to determine the bona fide nature of the provider of

settlement services.

Several courts look to the explanation in Pettrey v. Enterprise Title Agency, Inc., 241

F.R.D. 275 (N.D. Ohio 2006), which offers persuasive reasoning on why a RESPA claim like

Hollidayoke’s is actionable.  See Robinson v. Fountainhead Title Grp. Corp., 252 F.R.D.

275, 287 (D. Md. 2008); Bolinger v. First Multiple Listing Serv., Inc., 838 F. Supp. 2d 1340,

1354 (N.D. Ga. 2012). The Pettrey court found that because § 2607(c) gives “safe harbors”

for business referrals that would otherwise violate § 2607(a), this means that an alleged
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affiliated business arrangement that does not meet the requirements for an affiliated business

arrangement will violate § 2607. Pettrey, 241 F.R.D. at 275. 

As explained in Robinson, 

[t]his conclusion is supported by [§ 2607(d)(3)], which provides

that “[n]o person or persons shall be liable for a violation of the

provisions of subsection (c)(4)(A)” regarding disclosure of the

[affiliated business arrangement] relationship if certain

requirements are met. The converse is that the statutory

[affiliated business arrangement] requirements can be “violated”

such that a person is “liable.” HUD regulations are to the same

effect. They explain that “[a]n affiliated business arrangement

is not a violation of [§ 2607] of RESPA” only if the [affiliated

business arrangement] requirements are met.

252 F.R.D. at 287 (Citations omitted). See also Bollinger, 838 F.Supp 2d at 1354 (finding

that “the converse of this provision is that an [affiliated business arrangement] that does not

satisfy the criteria of [§ 2607(c)(4)] is a violation of RESPA”). 

The language of the exemption states that nothing in the section shall be construed as

prohibiting affiliated business arrangements so long as the three enumerated conditions are

met. 12 U.S.C. § 2607(c)(4). The Robinson court interpreted the phrase “so long as” as

implying that “absent compliance with the enumerated conditions, an affiliated business

arrangement would be prohibited.” 252 F.R.D. at 286. 

The Minter court shares this view in applying the Policy Statement:

If, upon consideration of all applicable factors, the entity under

review is not a bona fide provider of settlement services, then

the arrangement does not meet the definition of an [affiliated

business arrangement]. And if it does not qualify as an

[affiliated business arrangement], then it cannot qualify for the
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[affiliated business arrangement] exemption, even if it otherwise

conforms to the conditions set forth in [§ 2607(c)(4)]. Thus, to

pass muster under RESPA, an alleged [affiliated business

arrangement] must: (1) involve a bona fide provider of

settlement services; and (2) conform to all three conditions set

forth in [§ 2607(c)(4)]. 

Minter v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 274 F.R.D. 525, 542 (D. Md. 2011).  However, other21

courts have come to different conclusions.  For example, in Gardner v. First American Title22

It is also noteworthy that 12 U.S.C. § 2607(d)(3) provides:21

No person or persons shall be liable for a violation of the

provisions of subsection (c)(4)(A) of this section is such person

or persons proves by a preponderance of the evidence that such

violation was not intentional and resulted from a bona fide error

notwithstanding maintenance of procedures that are reasonably

adapted to avoid such error.

On May 13, 2014, the Mortgage Brokers filed a Motion to Bring to the Attention of22

the Court New Authority That Was Published After the Filing of Appellants’ Briefs. This

motion explained that one case that was previously cited, Carter v. Welles-Bowen Realty, 719

F. Supp. 2d 846, 855 (D. Ohio 2010), was recently affirmed. See Carter v. Welles Bowen

Realty, 736 F.3d. 722 (6th Cir. 2013). This case held that HUD’s Policy Statement is not

entitled to any deference from the court and has no persuasive force:

Deference under Chevron v. Natural Resources Defense Council

comes into play only when an agency offers a binding

interpretation of a statute that it administers. As the government

concedes, the policy statement’s ten-factor test is not a binding

interpretation of the Act. The statement instead informs the

public that the Department plans to “consider” these factors

when separating bona fide providers from shams. That is

another way of saying the statement offers non-binding advice

about the agency’s enforcement agenda, not a controlling

interpretation of the statute. Agency recommendations of this

sort, even when cast as policy considerations or preferences, do

not bind courts tasked with interpreting a statute.

(continued...)
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Ins. Co., 296 F. Supp. 2d 1011, 1017 n.7 (D. Minn. 2003), the district court noted that

because the exceptions to § 2607(c) were listed in the disjunctive, an affiliated business

arrangement that met at least one exception could avoid a RESPA violation. However, “the

issue of whether any of the alternative exceptions applied . . . was not before the [Gardner]

court.” Robinson, 252 F.R.D. at 286. Another court concluded that “[i]f affiliated business

arrangements are not disclosed, it only means that the non-disclosure is not protected from

potential liability under 12 U.S.C. § 2607(a) or (b).” Teaupa v. U.S. Nat. Bank N.A., 836 F.

Supp. 2d 1083, 1097 (D. Haw. 2011).

In light of Congress’s stated goal of protecting consumers, we find most persuasive

the argument that an affiliated business arrangement must comply with the enumerated

conditions of the § 2607(c)(4) exception and must be a bona fide provider of settlement

services.  The HUD Policy Statement’s ten-factor test is a helpful device to make the latter

determination.  We agree that an arrangement that does not meet the Policy Statement

requirements for an affiliated business arrangement will violate RESPA, because it will fall

outside the safe harbor exceptions of 2607(c).

We also find that Hollidayoke presented enough evidence to show a violation of

RESPA. Pursuant to the Policy Statement, HUD considers these ten factors, which we

summarize below:

(...continued)22

Carter, 736 F.3d at 726 (Citation omitted).  The Mortgage Brokers have not raised a Chevron

issue here.
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(1) whether the entity is sufficiently capitalized;

(2) whether the entity provides services through its own

employees or loaned employees;

(3) whether the entity manages its own business affairs;

(4) whether the entity has a separate office, or if the same

address as the parent, whether the entity pays general market

value rent;

(5) whether the entity provides substantial services for which it

receives a fee;

(6) whether the entity contracts out part of its substantial

services, and to what extent;

(7) if the entity contracts out some of its substantial services,

whether the entity contracts services from an independent third

party or from a parent, affiliated provider or another entity that

helped created the controlled entity;

(8) if the entity contracts out work to another party, whether the

entity is receiving a “thing of value” for referring settlement

services business to the contracted party;

(9) whether the entity actively competes in the market place for

business other than that of the providers that created the entity;

(10) whether the entity sends business exclusively to one of the

settlement service providers that created it.

See 61 Fed. Reg. at 29262.

Here, the three members of JBL each owned fifteen percent of Integrity, for a total of

forty-five percent, while Millard Rubenstein owned the remaining fifty-five percent of the
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business. Rubenstein testified that Integrity existed from early 2006 until the fall of 2007.

Blonder testified that he and Rubenstein had never met, despite owning the business together.

During the hearing, an expert witness in the standard of care for bona fide settlement service

providers testified that in his opinion, Integrity “was not an impartial service provider” in the

closing services related to the two loans. Regarding the first element of whether Integrity was

sufficiently capitalized, the expert testified that there was a “lack of clarity on its

capitalization and its ability to sustain itself independent of JBL.”

For the second factor, there was evidence that Integrity provided services through

loaned employees. Blonder testified that Integrity had its own employees, one of whom was

Dina De Santis, who used to work for Rubenstein’s company, Resource Real Estate Services.

After Blonder stopped sending business to Integrity, Blonder hired De Santis to work at

Blonder’s new company, Swan Title. Rubenstein testified that “[f]rom time to time she was

at Resource and she was with Integrity and she may have jumped around to some other

companies, also.” 

For the third factor on whether the entity managed its own business affairs, Blonder

testified that he was never involved in the management of Integrity. Rubenstein said that

there was a different employee at Resource who “did certain services for Integrity, for which

Resource was paid, but I wouldn’t have called him the CFO, but he did certain accounting

disbursement work.” 
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For the fourth factor on whether the entity had a separate office, Blonder testified that

he had never visited Integrity’s offices, and that Integrity had provided closings at JBL’s

office, including Hollidayoke’s two settlements. Rubenstein testified that Integrity leased

office space with Resource, leased computers from Resource, and shared “common area”

expenses like the telephone system. 

For the fifth, sixth, seventh, and eighth factors, there was no clear testimony about

how Integrity provided substantial services or whether it contracted out any of those services.

For the ninth factor regarding whether the entity competes in the marketplace for

business, Blonder testified that he marketed Integrity himself: “I would talk to my other

associates who were in the business, I thought they did a good job.” 

Finally, for the tenth factor on whether the entity sends business exclusively to one

of the settlement service providers that created it, Blonder first testified that he was certain

that Integrity provided services arranged by other brokers, but then conceded that he did not

actually know because he did not supervise the company. Blonder also testified that once he

became unhappy with Integrity, he stopped using it:

COUNSEL: Did you stop using Integrity Settlement Services

at some point in 2008?

BLONDER: Yes. The business no longer existed. 

COUNSEL: It no longer existed in corporate form or it no

longer was doing business?

BLONDER: I’m not 100 percent certain.
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COUNSEL: Did you stop receiving money from it?

BLONDER: I stopped sending business and marketing the

company. I was not happy with it.

Rubenstein explained that Blonder ceased sending business and that Blonder hired Integrity’s

employees to work for a different business. 

We find that all of these factors weighed together offer enough evidence to send to

the jury the issue of whether Integrity was a sham entity. Therefore, the court was correct to

deny the Mortgage Brokers’ motion for judgment and motion for judgment notwithstanding

the verdict concerning the RESPA claim.

III. CPA Claim

The purpose of the CPA is to “set certain minimum statewide standards for the

protection of consumers across the State.” CL § 13-102(b)(1). Under the CPA, a person may

not engage in any unfair or deceptive trade practice in the extension of consumer credit. CL

§ 13-303. A consumer may bring an action to recover for injury or loss sustained by him as

the result of a prohibited practice. CL § 13-408.  

A. Statute of Limitations

The Mortgage Brokers contend that the CPA claim arising from the 2006 Loan is

barred by the statute of limitations. They argue that the limitations period begins to run from

the moment a fact is discovered that suggests the need for investigation. They assert that all

transactions related to the 2006 Loan took place in 2006, and that Hollidayoke did not file

his complaint until May 12, 2010, more than three years after he was on inquiry notice of his
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claim. Hollidayoke contends that he learned of the injuries and losses he sustained in

September 2009. He also asserts that the Mortgage Brokers did not object to the jury’s

factual finding on a special verdict sheet as to when Hollidayoke knew or should of known

he was injured.

In Maryland, a civil action “shall be filed within three years from the date it accrues.”

Md. Code (2006, 2013 Repl. Vol), Courts & Judicial Proceedings Article (“CJP”), § 5-101.

Claims based on the CPA are subject to this three-year period of limitations. Master Fin., Inc.

v. Crowder, 409 Md. 51, 65 (2009). 

The question of when a cause of action accrues is ordinarily left to judicial

determination. Litz v. Md. Dep’t of Env’t, 434 Md. 623, 641 (2013). The determination of

when an action accrued may be based solely on law, solely on fact or a combination of law

and fact. Id. When it is necessary to make a factual determination to identify the date of

accrual, however, those factual determinations are generally made by the trier of fact, and not

decided by the court as a matter of law. Id.

For CPA claims, accrual begins at the time of sale if that is when the claimant knows

or reasonably should have known of the violation. Bediako v. Am. Honda Fin. Corp., 850 F.

Supp. 2d 574, 581 (D. Md. 2012) aff’d, 537 F. App’x 183 (4th Cir. 2013).

However, under the discovery rule, the statute of limitations does not begin until the

claimant knows “or through the exercise of reasonable diligence should know, of the wrong.”

Id. (Citations and quotations omitted). This rule applies “when stealth, subterfuge, or other
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difficulties of detection leave a plaintiff  blamelessly ignorant of the facts and circumstances

legally entitling him or her to relief.” Berringer, 133 Md. App. at 493 (2000). The discovery

rule contemplates “awareness implied from knowledge of circumstances which ought to have

put a person of ordinary prudence on inquiry notice [thus charging the individual] with notice

of all facts which such an investigation would in all probability have disclosed if it had been

properly pursued.” Fairfax Sav., F.S.B. v. Weinberg & Green, 112 Md. App. 587, 613 (1996)

(Citation omitted). Additionally, a cause of action needs all elements present to accrue,

including damages. Id. “The dispositive issue in determining when limitations begin to run

is when the plaintiff was put on notice that he may have been injured.” Id. 

The jury made a factual finding that the claim accrued in September 2009.We agree

that Hollidayoke could not have reasonably known about his claim at the time of sale

because, as explained supra, in section II. the disclosure information was unfair and

deceptive. Therefore, Hollidayoke timely filed his CPA claim.

B. CPA Misrepresentations

The Mortgage Brokers contend that Hollidayoke did not set forth any actionable

misrepresentations under the CPA. They argue that Blonder’s statements about the 2006

Loan were vague expressions of opinion and puffery. For the 2007 Refinance Loan, they

argue that Blonder only represented that he thought he could save Hollidayoke a lot of

money; they argue that this is not a factual representation. Finally, they note that the 2007
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Refinance Loan did in fact lower the interest rate from approximately eight percent to seven

percent. 

Hollidayoke contends that he presented evidence that would permit the court to allow

the jury to consider whether the Mortgage Brokers committed unfair and deceptive practices.

Hollidayoke argues that the lock-in statement was deceptive, the Truth in Lending disclosure

was incorrect, and that the cost of the two “toxic mortgages” was more expensive than the

cost of a reverse mortgage in this situation. He also notes that his expert witness explained

that the loan should not have been refinanced because there was no better loan product

available for someone like Hollidayoke with a fixed income but strong equity at the time of

the loan.

When a consumer experiences an injury or loss as the result of a practice prohibited

by the CPA, he may bring an action to recover. CL § 13-408. The Court of Appeals explained

that

[w]hile “any person may bring an action to recover for injury or

loss sustained by him as the result of a practice prohibited by

this title,” § 13-408, a party who files a complaint with the

Attorney General, who then brings the action, is not required to

allege that actual injury has occurred. § 13-302. This Court has

held, however, that a private party suing under the Consumer

Protection Act must establish “actual injury or loss.” 

Lloyd v. Gen. Motors Corp., 397 Md. 108, 142-43, 916 A.2d 257, 277 (2007). Each

allegation of unfair trade practice must be supported by sufficient sworn testimony. Klein v.

State, 52 Md. App. 640, 647 (1982).
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The term “unfair or deceptive trade practices” for the purposes of the CPA includes

any “[f]alse, falsely disparaging, or misleading oral or written statement, visual description,

or other representation of any kind which has the capacity, tendency, or effect of deceiving

or misleading consumers.” CL § 13-301(1). The term also covers any “[f]ailure to state a

material fact if the failure deceives or tends to deceive.” Id. at (3). A misrepresentation can

come from “not only by what is explicitly stated, but also by what is reasonably implied.”

Golt v. Phillips, 308 Md. 1, 9 (1986). 

When determining if a statement is misleading, a court examines the statement from

the point of view of a reasonable, but unsophisticated consumer. Sager v. Hous. Comm’n of

Anne Arundel Cnty., 855 F. Supp. 2d 524, 558 (D. Md. 2012) (citing  Luskin’s, Inc. v.

Consumer Protection Div., 353 Md. 335, 356–57 (1999)). The Sager opinion provides an

overview of Maryland law:

In assessing the “capacity, tendency, or effect” of a statement to

deceive or mislead, courts consider whether “a significant

number of unsophisticated consumers would find [the]

information [at issue] important in determining a course of

action.” Green v. H & R Block, Inc., 355 Md. 488, 524 (1999).

Put another way, a court should ask whether the information is

“‘important to consumers and, hence, likely to affect their

choice.’” Luskin’s, 353 Md. at 359 (citation omitted). In this

respect, a statement “cannot be viewed in a vacuum”; rather, it

must be viewed in the context in which it was made, along with

other representations to the consumer. McGraw [v. Loyola Ford,

Inc.] 124 Md. App. 560, 580 (1999).

Sager, 855 F. Supp. 2d 524, 558 (D. Md. 2012).
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We conclude that the jury could have reasonably found that the Mortgage Brokers

made misleading statements that injured Hollidayoke. From Blonder’s testimony, it was clear

that the true interest rate was not readily apparent from the face of certain documents. Some

documents stated they had a lock-in rate of one percent with no indication of subsequent

increases, which in our view would certainly affect the choice of an unsophisticated

consumer. Even if the misleading statement that Blonder could save Hollidayoke a lot of

money is merely an opinion, the documents themselves imply something else. Therefore, the

court did not err in denying the Mortgage Brokers’ motion for judgment and motion for

judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

IV. FFA

Under the FFA, “[a] finder’s fee may not be charged unless it is pursuant to a written

agreement between the mortgage broker and the borrower which is separate and distinct from

any other document.” CL § 12-805(d)(1). A “finder’s fee means any compensation or

commission directly or indirectly imposed by a broker and paid by or on behalf of the

borrower for the broker’s services in procuring, arranging, or otherwise assisting a borrower

in obtaining a loan or advance of money.” CL § 12-801(d).

With respect to the FFA claim, the Mortgage Brokers contend that it was error to

apply the FFA to Blonder as an individual for the amount of $33,387.75. They argue that the

finder’s fees were paid to JBL and not Blonder, and that this was indicated on the settlement

sheets on the 2006 Loan and 2007 Refinance Loan. The Mortgage Brokers do not appeal the
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FFA claim awarded against JBL. Instead, they argue that Blonder did not individually charge

or collect finder’s fees, and therefore cannot be liable under the FFA.

Hollidayoke contends that Blonder is a mortgage broker under the FFA because he

is not a lender and because he received compensation from fees directly and indirectly. He

argues that the statute is not meant to allow sophisticated persons to “define out” the statute’s

coverage and then fail to comply with basic requirements. Additionally, Hollidayoke asserts

that as a consumer protection statute, the FFA should not be construed against the interests

of consumers to shield mortgage brokers.

A mortgage broker is a person who

(1) For a fee or other valuable consideration, whether received

directly or indirectly, aids or assists a borrower in obtaining a

mortgage loan; and 

(2) Is not named as a lender in the agreement, note, deed of

trust, or other evidence of the indebtedness. 

 Md. Code (1980, 2011 Repl. Vol.), Financial Institutions Article (“FI”) § 11-501(i).23

Case law concerning the FFA most often addresses a damage award against a broker

acting as both a broker and a lender at the same time.  See Petry v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.,

597 F. Supp. 2d 558, 562 (D. Md. 2009) aff’d, 537 F. App’x 183 (4th Cir. 2013) (“The plain

language of the statute clearly contemplates a situation where a mortgage broker acts as a

Pursuant to CL § 12-801(f), the definition of “mortgage broker” comes from the23

meaning of “a person defined as a mortgage lender under § 11–501(j)(1)(i) of the Financial

Institutions Article.” The referenced section states that a “mortgage lender means any person

who is a mortgage broker.” FI § 11-501(j)(1)(i). 
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mortgage lender. What it forbids, on the other hand, is the collection of a fee by someone

acting as both broker and lender.”). 

In Coner v. Morris S. Berman Unlimited, Inc., 65 Md. App. 514, 524-25 (1985), the 

broker Berman served as both the broker and the lender, and received a fee “for doing no

more than receiving appellants’ application and passing it from one of his hands to the

other.” Relevant to the case at hand, in Coner we singled out Berman rather than the lender

Mortgage Masters, finding that Berman violated the FFA just for “collecting” the fee, even

if for the benefit of Mortgage Masters. Id. at 525. We explained that

[i]n putting together this transaction, Mr. Berman necessarily

acted as an agent, on the one hand, for his corporation (appellee)

and, on the other, for Mortgage Masters. We shall assume, in the

absence of contrary evidence, that he had the authority to so act.

Each principal, then, is responsible for the actions taken by him

on its behalf.

Id. at 524-25.

As a member of the LLC, Blonder is an agent of JBL. The principal, JBL, is

responsible for the actions taken by Blonder on its behalf. Unlike Coner, however, Blonder

was not acting as an agent for two entities; he was acting as an agent for JBL, an entity

already adjudged to have violated the FFA. Though Blonder benefitted from the fee to JBL

as an employee and part-owner, this is not the same as passing the business from one hand

to the next. We do not believe this is the situation contemplated by the FFA, because the

language of the FFA focuses on the distinction between a broker and a lender. In our view,

the court erred by failing to grant the Mortgage Brokers’ motion for judgment
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notwithstanding the verdict concerning the FFA claim. Therefore, the damages should be

reduced by $33,387.75.

V. Damages 

A. RESPA Claim 

RESPA prohibits kickbacks and unearned fees in exchange for business related to

“settlement services.” 12 U.S.C. § 2607(a). The circuit court found that the jury included 

items that could not be considered settlement services under RESPA, and, as a result, reduced

the damage award. Hollidayoke contends that the circuit court improperly revised the jury’s

calculations. He argues that the Mortgage Brokers did not present the issue in its motion for

directed verdict. Hollidayoke explains that the while the Mortgage Brokers did “lodge certain

exceptions” to the jury instructions in general, they “only incorporated the limited issues

raised in their Motions for Directed Verdict and did not address the calculation of damages

or definition of settlement services under RESPA.”

If the issue is preserved, Hollidayoke contends that the judgment concerning the jury’s

calculation of the sum of settlement services should not have been reduced. Specifically, he

argues that it was error for the court to exclude Broker Premiums and Recordation Taxes

from the calculation of settlement services because it contradicts the language of the statute.

The Mortgage Brokers respond that award was properly revised because the jury

failed to follow the court’s instructions. Though the jury made a general award, the Mortgage

Brokers contend that the jury included improper settlement services in its calculations. As
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the Mortgage Brokers asserted in support of their Motion for Judgment Notwithstanding the

Verdict, it appears that the jury calculated all of the charges,  except for interest, listed on24

the settlement sheet for the 2007 Refinance Loan.  For the 2006 Loan, the jury used a similar

calculation, but made a mathematical error. The Mortgage Brokers argue that they did not

object to the instructions because they could not predict that the jury would ignore them. 

A person who violates RESPA’s prohibition of kickbacks and unearned fees is

“jointly and severally liable to the person or persons charged for the settlement service

involved in the violation in an amount equal to three times the amount of any charge paid for

such settlement service.” 12 U.S.C. § 2607(d)(2). RESPA defines“settlement services” to

include 

any service provided in connection with a real estate settlement

including, but not limited to, the following: title searches, title

examinations, the provision of title certificates, title insurance,

services rendered by an attorney, the preparation of documents,

property surveys, the rendering of credit reports or appraisals,

pest and fungus inspections, services rendered by a real estate

agent or broker, the origination of a federally related mortgage

loan (including, but not limited to, the taking of loan

applications, loan processing, and the underwriting and funding

of loans), and the handling of the processing, and closing or

settlement.

12 U.S.C. § 2602(3). This definition was read to the jury. The jury’s verdict sheet indicates

that before trebling, the total sum of settlement services found to be involved in the

The allegedly improper charges included for the 2006 Loan and the 2007 Refinance24

Loan were charges listed for “Broker Premium paid by Lender” and “City/county/stamps,”

which are recordation taxes.
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transaction was $12,647.05 for the 2006 Loan and $11.591.60 for the 2007 Refinance Loan.

Only the totals are provided on the verdict sheet, so it is not clear what numbers were

involved, but the numbers can be inferred from the settlement sheets. The circuit court said

in its order that it

would not normally disturb a discretionary award made by a

jury. However, the RESPA claim is purely statutory and the jury

is required to abide by the Act. Furthermore, a review of the

verdict sheet and of the HUD-1 forms admitted at trial for the

two loans involved allow the Court to readily determine which

line items the jury improperly included in its calculations. There

is no need for speculation or interpretation as to how the jury

arrived at the award for this Count.

 

Because a judge is forbidden from encroaching on the jury’s fact-finding province,

the court’s discretion to revise a jury verdict pursuant to Maryland Rule 2-535 is permissible

“only to effectuate the true intent of the jury.” Turner v. Hastings, 432 Md. 499, 501 (2013).

The intent should be “manifest and beyond doubt.” Id. at 512. The concern of the risk of a

judge substituting his or her own findings is not present “when a judge revises a verdict

based purely on a legal issue because legal issues are not within the province of the jury.” Id.

at 512-13. For example, the Court in Med. Mut. Liab. Ins. Soc. of Maryland v. Evans, 330

Md. 1, 25-26 (1993), noted that when “damages to be awarded in this case are a fixed sum

determined by mathematical computation, there is no fact issue for a jury to decide.”

The definition of settlement services states that it includes, but it is not limited to, the

specifically named services listed. Thus, this is not pure statutory application; there is a

factual question for the jury to decide as to which elements are service settlement charges.
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It is not “manifest and beyond a doubt” what the jury intended, especially when we must

assume there was a mathematical error to make the numbers work. We discussed possible

mathematical errors in First Nat. Bank of Maryland v. Burton, Parsons & Co., Inc., 57 Md.

App. 437, 458 (1984):

[The cross-appellant] expostulates that the jury used improper

mathematical calculations to arrive at its verdict. The verdict as

returned by the jury, however, was a general one and, based on

the record before us, unless the cross-appellant is clairvoyant it

has no way, short of pure conjecture, of ascertaining how the

jury reached its conclusion that [cross-appellant] was truly and

justly indebted unto [cross-appellee] in the amount of

$750,000.00.

The verdict here was also a general one. The record provides some guidance on how the jury

may have reached its total amount, but because the numbers are inconsistent, we cannot rule

out conjecture. Therefore, the circuit court erred in reducing the RESPA damages.25

B. CPA Claim 

1. Application of UCATA

The circuit court lowered the damage award for the CPA claim because it found that

UCATA applied to the award. Hollidayoke contends that a violation of the CPA is not a tort,

and therefore UCATA cannot apply to his statutory damage claim under the CPA. He argues

that it is improper to expand the scope of UCATA to include statutory claims that were not

contemplated by the legislature. Hollidayoke also contends that the Mortgage Brokers did

Additionally, as Hollidayoke points out, the definition of settlement services in25

federal RESPA regulations does in fact specifically include recordation and services

involving taxes.  12 C.F.R. § 1024.2(b).
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not object to the dismissal of the negligence counts, which he asserts amounts to a waiver by

the Mortgage Brokers of their right to be considered joint tortfeasors, “since only statutory

claims remained before the jury.” 

The Mortgage Brokers contend that a private cause of action under the CPA is a tort.

They argue that an action does not need to be based upon common law to constitute a tort,

and therefore, the circuit court was correct to lower the jury award of damages.

UCATA defines tortfeasors as “two or more persons jointly or severally liable in tort

for the same injury to person or property, whether or not judgment has been recovered

against all or some of them.” CJP § 3-1401(c). UCATA allows “an individual to settle with

one joint tortfeasor and still have recourse against the remaining tortfeasors.” Anne Arundel

Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Condon, 102 Md. App. 408, 415 (1994). UCATA is generally aimed at tort

liability, though the Act instructs that it “shall be so interpreted and construed as to effectuate

its general purpose to make uniform the law of those states that enact it.” CJP § 3-1407. 

Other courts have examined UCATA and its application to constitutional torts and

statutory torts. Applying Maryland law, a U.S. district court declined to apply UCATA to

Maryland constitutional torts, explaining that “[t]hough [UCATA] codifies a general

contribution right, there is no indication that it applies to Maryland State Constitutional torts,

which unlike common law torts, are state law claims that arise when government officials

violate the Maryland Declaration of Rights.” Hepburn ex rel. Hepburn v. Athelas Inst., Inc.,

324 F. Supp. 2d 752, 757-58 (D. Md. 2004).
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On the other hand, the Court of Appeals did apply UCATA when liability stemmed

from a tax statute. The Court found that “[w]here, as in Maryland, a tradition of granting the

equitable remedy of contribution exists, there is no good reason to shunt it aside when

dealing with a payment of corporate withholding taxes pursuant to [a statute covering

payments to ].” Lyon v. Campbell, 324 Md. 178, 190 (1991).

Similarly, in  Consumer Prot. Div. v. Morgan, 387 Md. 125, 171 (2005), the Court

looked to tort law when determining “whether restitution ordered under the Consumer

Protection Act, when brought by the Attorney General in a public enforcement action, may

be joint and several as opposed to several.” The Court explained that “[w]hile Consumer

Protection Act violations are not tortious acts, we again look for guidance from the law of

joint and several liability developed in the tort context.”  Id. at  177-78. In looking for that

guidance, the Court stated that “[a]s tortfeasors acting in concert are responsible for the

damages each caused, so too are Consumer Protection Act violators who act in concert

responsible for the unjust enrichment each gained at the consumers’ expense.” Id. at 183.26

Ultimately, the Court found that 26

[t]he rationale for holding concurrent tortfeasors jointly and

severally liable is inapplicable in the Consumer Protection Act

context, where restitution aims at disgorgement of unjust

enrichment, not compensation for damages. A damage

assessment looks to the harm to  the victim; restitution looks to

the gain or unjust enrichment of the violator. While the injury

may be indivisible, the amount of illicit gain by each violator

ordinarily can be ascertained.

Morgan, 387 Md. at 183-84 (Emphasis added).
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The Court has also described how a tort “encompasses all ‘civil wrongs,’ not just

wrongs that were recognized as a civil wrong at common law.” Green v. N.B.S., Inc. v. Kraft

Foods, Inc., 409 Md. 528, 542 (2009) (Quotation omitted).  This Court agreed that a27

violation of the CPA is most like a tort: “In our view, a CPA violation is in the nature of a

tort action; it is a legal wrong that is not equivalent to a breach of contract.” Hartford Acc.

& Indem. Co. v. Scarlett Harbor Associates Ltd. P’ship, 109 Md. App. 217, 265 (1996); see

also MaryCLE, LLC v. First Choice Internet, Inc., 166 Md. App. 481, 528 (2006) (finding

In Green v. N.B.S., Inc., 180 Md. App. 639, 650-52 (2008) aff’d, 409 Md. 52827

(2009), we noted that whether a statutory tort is committed is irrelevant to the finding of

whether the defendant committed a tortious act for purposes of the Long Arm Statute found

in CJP § 6-103(b). We cited multiple state authorities for finding statutory violations as 

tortious conduct for the purpose of long-arm statutes, as well as

numerous other cases from other jurisdictions standing for the

proposition that the fact that a cause of action arises out of a

statute does not mean that a tort has not been committed. See,

e.g., Elvig v. Calvin Presbyterian Church, 397 F.3d 790, 793

(9th Cir. 2005) (Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 creates

statutory torts); Schobert v. Illinois Dep’t of Transp., 304 F.3d

725, 731 (7th Cir. 2002) (same); Fenton v. HiSAN, Inc., 174

F.3d 827, 829–30 (6th Cir. 1999) (same); see also Home

Builders Ass’n of Greater St. Louis v. L & L Exhibition Mgmt.,

Inc., 226 F.3d 944, 947 (8th Cir. 2000) (the Lanham Act “has

been broadly construed by the federal courts as making certain

types of unfair competition federal statutory torts”) (quotation

omitted); Bangor Punta Operations, Inc. v. Universal Marine

Co., 543 F.2d 1107, 1109 (5th Cir. 1976) (same).

Green, 180 Md. App. at 650-52.
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that principles of tort law guide the analysis of Maryland Commercial Electronic Mail Act

violations because they are “like violations of the [CPA]” and “are ‘in the nature of a tort’”).

We have said that “[a] ‘tort’ is a legal concept possessing the basic elements of a

wrong with resultant injury and consequential damage which is cognizable in a court of law.”

Hartford Acc. & Indem. Co. at 265. In other words, 

one commits a tort and becomes liable in damages where he

commits some act unauthorized by law, or omits something

which by law he ought to do, and by such act or omission either

infringes some absolute right of another or causes such other

person some substantial loss of money, health, or material

comfort, beyond that suffered by the rest of the public. 

Id. at 266. Our case law “suggests that the term ‘tortious conduct’ includes more than

conduct that constituted a tort at common law.” Green, 409 Md. at 542 (2009) (Quotation

omitted). 

The joint tortfeasor agreements here are broad contracts, and Maryland follows the

objective law of contract interpretation and construction when looking at joint tortfeasor

releases. Hashmi v. Bennett, 188 Md. App. 434, 446 (2009), aff’d, 416 Md. 707 (2010). “The

party moving for a reduction of the verdict in accordance with UCATA § 3-1404 bears the

burden of proving the joint tortfeasor status of the settling parties.” Id. at 443. Here,

Hollidayoke had two settlement agreements, one with H. Beck and one with RPS and

Steranka. Hollidayoke and H. Beck agreed that H. Beck would be deemed a joint tortfeasor

with any other tortfeasors liable for tort damages arising out of the same occurrence.

Hollidayoke agreed with RPS and Steranka that the parties released in the RPS agreement
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would be joint tortfeasors with any other tortfeasors liable for damages. In their agreement,

the term “RPS Relased Parties” included Steranka, RPS, and H. Beck. The term expressly

did not include Christensen, JBL, or Blonder.

Interpreting the agreement objectively, we cannot find that the broad wording

intended to exclude damages that were not common law tort damages. In this case, the

statutory violation can be treated like a tort, and the damages against the unreleased joint

tortfeasors should be reduced accordingly. Therefore, the circuit court was correct to find that

UCATA applies to the CPA claim and to reduce the CPA damage award.

2. Reduction of CPA Damages

Hollidayoke contends that if UCATA applies to the CPA, the circuit court erred in its

calculation of the number of joint tort-feasors for which to apply reductions. He contends that

if reduced, it should have been by a one-third pro rata share instead of a three-fifths pro rata

share. Hollidayoke asserts that there should be three total shares of the award by counting

RPS and Steranka as one share, based on their master-servant relationship, and counting JBL

and Blonder as two shares. He argues that H. Beck was excluded from his claims under the

CPA.

The Mortgage Brokers contend that Hollidayoke’s releases with the prior defendants

should reduce the amount of the judgment by a three-fourths pro rata. They count themselves

as one share, and H. Beck, RPS, and Steranka as another three shares. The Mortgage Brokers

argue that they should be counted together as one share because their relationship was solely
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vicarious in nature. The Mortgage Brokers argue that RPS is not vicariously liable for

Steranka because there were other employees involved. The Mortgage Brokers assert that the

September 2011 release language is broader than the July 2011 Release, and identifies H.

Beck, RPS, and Steranka as separate released parties.

Joint-tortfeasors share the right of contribution. CJP § 3-1402(a). When a joint-

tortfeasor enters into a settlement agreement with the injured person, the joint-tortfeasor “is

not entitled to recover contribution from another joint-tortfeasor whose liability to the injured

person is not extinguished by the settlement.” CJP § 3-1402(c).

A release by the injured person of one joint tort-feasor, whether

before or after judgment, does not discharge the other

tort-feasors unless the release so provides, but it reduces the

claim against the other tort-feasors in the amount of the

consideration paid for the release or in any amount or proportion

by which the release provides that the total claim shall be

reduced, if greater than the consideration paid. 

CJP § 3-1404.

We explained how we apply a pro rata reduction in Hashmi:

Where, as here, a release provides for a pro rata reduction, we

determine the number of pro rata shares based on the number of

joint tortfeasors. First, appellant was adjudicated liable and

therefore constitutes one joint tortfeasor. Second, in Chilcolte v.

Von Der Ahe Van Lines, 300 Md. 106, 121-22 (1984), the Court

of Appeals held that, where a party is deemed a joint tortfeasor

as a result of being vicariously liable for the negligent conduct

of its agent, then the principal and agent together comprise one

joint-tortfeasor share for the purpose of reduction.

188 Md. App. at 454. We said that 
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[a]ppellant argued that the [Emergency Physicians Associates]

release created one joint-tortfeasor share for [the Emergency

Physicians Associations] and its employee, Dr. Kostrubiak.

Regarding [the hospital] release, appellant contended that there

were three joint-tortfeasor shares, i.e. one share for each of [the

hospital’s] three employees.

Id. at 440. Instead, we found one share for the appellant, one for the Emergency Physicians

Associates and Dr. Kostrubiak, and one share for the hospital. Id. Even though the hospital

had three employees, we found that the joint tortfeasor agreement could only determine the

status for one who was a party thereto, and the employees were not parties to the agreement.

Id. at 451.

In Hollidayoke’s settlement agreement with H. Beck, the parties agreed that tort

damages shall be reduced under the provisions of UCATA, to the extent of the statutory pro

rata share if that was greater than the amount of consideration paid for the agreement.

Similarly, in Hollidayoke’s settlement agreement with RPS and Steranka, the parties agreed

to reduce all damages under the provisions of UCATA by the amount of consideration paid

or to the extent of the statutory pro rata shares of the RPS Released Parties, whichever is

greater. That settlement agreement provided that H. Beck shall be considered as a RPS

released party.

Here, RPS and Steranka are in an employer-employee relationship, but they are each

named as released parties, so they are two shares. H. Beck is named as a released party and

is its own share. Though Blonder could be an agent of JBL, the jury found each liable on the

CPA claim, so they are two shares. This totals five shares, three of which are covered by the
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release agreements. Therefore, the court was correct to adjust the award by a three-fifths pro

rata reduction.

3. Attorney’s Fees and Costs as Damages

Hollidayoke contends that the circuit court improperly considered his attorney’s fees

and costs as damages. He argues that the attorney’s fees and costs were awarded to him

pursuant to the CPA in relation to his claims against the Mortgage Brokers only, and that the

court erred when it made a reduction of the award based upon UCATA.

In their reply brief, the Mortgage Brokers contend that the attorney’s fee award is part

of the damages subject to pro rata reduction under the joint tortfeasor releases that

Hollidayoke entered into with Steranka, RPS and H. Beck. They argue that the release

agreement defined damages to include attorney’s fees and costs, and that the Mortgage

Brokers are third party beneficiaries to this contract.

We follow the American Rule for attorney’s fees, which means that damages do not

generally include counsel fees. Caffrey v. Dept. of Liquor Control for Montgomery County,

370 Md. 272, 280 (2002). Exceptions to the “general rule that counsel fees, incurred by the

prevailing party in the very litigation in which that party prevailed, are not recoverable as

compensatory damages against the losing party” are “quite rare,” but do exist. Id. at 293.

Those exceptions include when parties contract an agreement to that effect and when a

statute allows it. Id.
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Pursuant to the CPA, “[a]ny person who brings an action to recover for injury or loss

under this section and who is awarded damages may also seek, and the court may award,

reasonable attorney’s fees.”  CL § 13-408(b). The fee award is limited to the CPA action and

may not be based on additional recoveries under other causes of action. Hoffman v. Stamper,

385 Md. 1, 48-49 (2005). UCATA does not provide a specific definition of damages in

§ 3-1401, its section covering relevant terms.

In the September release, Hollidayoke 

forever discharges the RPS Released Parties [meaning RPS,

Steranka, H. Beck] of and from any and all . . . claims for

damages of whatsoever nature or description, whether known or

unknown, including but not limited to, compensatory damages,

punitive damages, costs, expenses, attorneys’ fees, costs of

litigation, and otherwise, both in law and in equity, which

Hollidayoke now has, ever had or will have against the RPS

Released Parties . . . 

Similarly, in the H. Beck settlement agreement,  Hollidayoke released H. Beck, “except for

any of the non-settling parties from any and all claims and demands of whatsoever nature,

action and causes of action, damages, punitive damages, costs, loss of service, attorney’s

fees, cost of litigation . . . and money benefits or compensation of any kind. . . .”

The circuit court found that the attorney’s fees 

must be characterized as “damages” under [UCATA] and that

they are therefore subject to pro-rata reduction. Theoretically,

only the portion of the fees and expenses attributable to Count

1, would be subject to reduction. However, one cannot rationally

carve out the portion of the fees and expenses that are uniquely

attributable as counsel’s substantial efforts on behalf of Plaintiff

necessarily overlapped from one claim to the other. Therefore,
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the court will apply the pro-rata reduction to the total amount of

attorney’s fees and expenses, leaving the defendants jointly and

severally liable for 2/5  of the total, that is $79,954.39.th

We find that the release indicates that the definition of damages included attorney’s fees.

Though the attorney’s fees are for the CPA claim award only, we agree that counsel’s efforts

must have overlapped when handling the claims. Therefore, we find that the court did not err

by applying the pro-rata reduction to the total.

4. Non-Economic Damages

a. Sufficient Injury

The Mortgage Brokers contend that Hollidayoke did not present any evidence that he

suffered from a physical injury, which would be necessary for him to receive emotional

distress damages. Additionally, they argue that Hollidayoke did not show that the Mortgage

Brokers’ actions were calculated to cause mental distress. Finally, the Mortgage Brokers

contend that the $150,000.00 in compensatory damages for emotional distress was excessive.

They argue that it was a result of passion and prejudice because there was no evidence that

Hollidayoke sought medical treatment, took medication, or had any physical symptoms.

Hollidayoke contends that he presented sufficient evidence to support a cause of

action for loss sustained as a result of practices forbidden by the CPA. He argues that he

suffered physical manifestations of emotional stress as a result of the mortgage, like sleeping

problems, embarrassment, and anxiety.
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Pursuant to CL § 13-408(a), “any person may bring an action to recover for injury or

loss sustained by him as the result of a practice prohibited by this title.” We look for a

physical injury to prove emotional distress so that we have “objective evidence to guard

against feigned claims.” Belcher v. T. Rowe Price Found., Inc., 329 Md. 709, 730 (1993). We

do not use the term “physical” in “its ordinary dictionary sense. Instead, it is used to represent

that the injury for which recovery is sought is capable of objective determination.” Id.

(emphasis in original).

A “clearly apparent and substantial physical injury” resulting from emotional distress

may be proved with one of four types of evidence: “(1) an external condition; or (2)

symptoms of a resulting pathological; (3) physiological; or (4) mental state.” Exxon Mobil

Corp. v. Albright, 433 Md. 303, 357 (2013), on reconsideration in part, 433 Md. 502 (2013).

The evidence for an emotional injury must be sufficiently detailed so that the jury can

quantify the injury; it must be more than mere conclusory statements. Id. at 358. The victim’s

testimony alone is sufficient if it “provides the jury with enough information to render his or

her injuries capable of objective determination,” but the claim is more likely to succeed if the

victim produces other sources of the evidence, for example, a caretaker’s testimony. Id.

Finally, we note that there is no requirement of severity to make an injury objectively

determinable; even minor injuries can produce evidence of mental anguish. Id.

We have held that physical injuries 

include such things as depression, inability to work or perform

routine household chores, loss of appetite, insomnia, nightmares,
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loss of weight, extreme nervousness and irritability, withdrawal

from socialization, fainting, chest pains, headaches, and upset

stomachs.

Hoffman v. Stamper, 385 Md. 1, 34-35 (2005) (Citations omitted). We do not require expert

medical testimony to support physical injuries and mental distress “where the cause of the

injury relates to matters of common experience, knowledge, or observation of laymen.”

Wilhelm v. State Traffic Safety Comm’n, 230 Md. 91, 99 (1962). For example, nervousness,

headaches, or upset stomachs are within the knowledge of laymen, as is the emotional toll

related to discovering a spouse’s adultery. Vance v. Vance, 286 Md. 490, 500 (1979). We

found anxiety to be objectively determinable when a personal representative of a victim

testified that the victim became extremely tired, more irritable, stopped walking and

accepting invitations to social events, lost his appetite, and became extremely quiet. Hunt v.

Mercy Med. Cty., 121 Md. App. 516, 531 (1998).

Here, there was testimony from Hollidayoke as well as other witnesses about his

emotional injuries. Hollidayoke stated that the loan transactions and foreclosure took a lot

out of him physically and hurt him emotionally. He explained that he was embarrassed to go

through a foreclosure: “I’m not – emotional problems I guess, I’m just not myself anymore.

It took a lot of steam out of me, you know. This is a devastating. Devastating.”

There was evidence presented to show that he became withdrawn socially.

Hollidayoke testified, “You know, when you’re happy, you do things. When you’re sad, you

don’t do nothing and that’s the way I’ve been. I’ve been kind of very upset about this thing.”
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Additionally, he testified that he has been withdrawn from “things I do a lot. You know, I

hadn’t played any music. I quit a band I was playing with in Florida. I just didn’t have the

get-go to go. And a lot of things.” Hollidayoke’s fianceé also testified that Hollidayoke no

longer attended bluegrass “jam sessions” or hosted annual parties in the home. She testified

that he stopped going to church, stopped speaking with friends on the phone, and lost

concentration and focus. She explained that he went from being contented to being very

grouchy with a “short fuse.”

There was also testimony presented to support statements that Hollidayoke suffered

embarrassment. Hollidayoke explained that being involved with a foreclosure made him feel

terrible, because “when you say foreclosure, that means they’re going to take your house, put

you on the street.” He stated that he was embarrassed about his new credit problem, because

“It don’t make me feel like I’m a better person.”  His fianceé confirmed that “he was just28

at wits end and couldn’t stop talking about it. It was an obsession.” 

Finally, there was testimony supporting Hollidayoke’s sleeplessness, stress, and

anxiety. His fianceé testified as to his sleeping problems: “Well, after he got the news, he

didn’t sleep at all. Finally, he got more sleep. But he’ll wake up in the middle of the night and

just wonder what’s going to happen.” Sandra Wing, Hollidayoke’s realtor and friend,

testified that Hollidayoke “was coming to the office every day just worried.” Wing stated that

Although injuries related to damage to one’s credit rating are traditionally brought28

as injury to reputation, as part of a defamation or libel suit, see Spengler v. Sears, Roebuck

& Co., 163 Md. App. 220 (2005); Herring v. Citizens Bank & Trust Co., 21 Md. App. 517

(1974), here the injury is part of Hollidayoke’s claimed embarrassment and anxiety.
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“he’s going through a lot. He’s very– he’s anxious, he’s nervous, he’s sleepless, and I was

concerned about this health, honestly.” She knew he was anxious from his phone calls and

the way he was coming into the office, and could tell he was not getting enough sleep

because of his mannerisms and because he appeared to be tired. She explained that “you can

tell he’s carrying a great deal of stress.” 

The injuries testified to are all “related to matters of common experience and

knowledge of lay persons” and thus, medical testimony was not necessary. Vance, 286 Md.

at 504-05. We find that when considered together, this is sufficient evidence showing

symptoms of a mental state, from which a jury could award non-economic damages for

emotional injuries.

b. Nexus to damages of 2007 Refinance Loan 

The Mortgage Brokers contend that there is no causal nexus between the damages

awarded and the alleged misrepresentations regarding the 2007 Refinance Loan. They argue

that the only alleged misrepresentation with respect to that loan was that it could save

Hollidayoke money. They assert that no evidence was presented at trial to show that

Hollidayoke would owe less on his 2006 Loan mortgage if he did not take out the 2007

Refinance Loan. Hollidayoke contends that he relied upon Blonder and JBL in each

transaction.

Under the CPA, damages for injuries may be awarded as a result of a prohibited

practice. CL § 13-408(a). Maryland courts have interpreted this to mean there should be some
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form of reliance on the misrepresentations. In Consumer Prot. Div. Office of Atty. Gen. v.

Consumer Pub. Co., Inc., 304 Md. 731, 781 (1985), the Court of Appeals rejected the

argument that proof of reliance is necessary before a general restitution order may be issued

in the context of avoiding “automatic” refunds. Instead, the Court of Appeals instructed the

company to notify customers that 

in order to be entitled to such refund, they should be required to

state that they relied on the false impressions created by the

advertising. . . . It should not be necessary that each purchaser

present additional evidence that he was actually deceived and

relied on the misrepresentation in the advertisements. To require

proof of reliance, beyond the purchaser’s statement, would make

recovery difficult and complicated. 

Id. We later found that this implies that “actual restitution may not be ordered in the absence

of some evidence that the individual purchaser was deceived by and relied upon the

offending communication.” Consumer Prot. Div. v. Outdoor World Corp., 91 Md. App. 275,

291 (1992); see also Luskin’s, 353 Md. at 387 (noting that reliance was a factor in CPA

claims, but only excluded “purchases by those who did not rely on the ad at all” from the

damage award) (Emphasis added).

Here, we find that a jury could have reasonably found that Hollidayoke’s injuries were

a result of prohibited practices that occurred in connection with the 2007 Refinance Loan.

The jury found that Blonder violated the CPA with respect to the 2007 Refinance Loan.

Blonder told Hollidayoke that this loan would save him money, but there was expert

testimony that the loan was inappropriate for Hollidayoke’s financial situation. Although the
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2007 Refinance Loan lowered the interest rate slightly, it changed the term from 480 months

to 360 months, making the monthly payment higher. Blonder conceded that Hollidayoke

would pay more money in total payments over the life of the 2007 Refinance Loan than he

would on the 2006 Loan. Blonder explained that he recommended the loans instead of a

reverse mortgage because the reverse mortgage had higher fees. However, he conceded that

when counting all the fees, indirect and direct, the cost of his loans was no different than his

estimate on a reverse mortgage.

The expert witness testified that a reverse mortgage would have improved

Hollidayoke’s cash flow because there would be no monthly payments, and Hollidayoke

would have been able to remain in his home even if the value were to decrease. Though the

expert’s opinion was that the reverse mortgage would have been more optimal in 2006, when

there was more equity in the home, he still testified that had Hollidayoke been offered the

reverse mortgage in 2007 and qualified for it by paying down the first loan, he would have

been able to remain in his home even if it was underwater.

Blonder agreed that Hollidayoke relied upon JBL to do the work stated in the fee

agreements on his behalf, like meeting conditions of the loan requirement and processing the

loan application. Blonder also conceded that Hollidayoke was advised to look solely to the

broker for information and assistance. When asked whether that was what he intended for

Hollidayoke to do, Blonder testified, “This statement is to Dennis Hollidayoke, so, sure, he

can rely upon us.” Similarly, Hollidayoke testified that his understanding was that Blonder
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would save him money with the 2007 Refinance Loan: “Well, I said if you can save me

money it sounds like a good thing, but how about Steranka and the Swan program, will it

affect that and he said, that won’t be no problem. . . . And I knew he was hooked up with

him, so he should know.” When asked why he agreed to take the loan out, Hollidayoke

testified “Well, I trust[ed] and relied on him. I mean, I liked the guy. I mean, I guess[ed] it

would have been okay.” Taken in total, this is enough evidence for a reasonable jury to find

a causal connection. Therefore, the court did not err in denying the Mortgage Brokers’

motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict.

For these reasons, we affirm all of the circuit court’s rulings with respect to the

RESPA claim, except for its reduction of damages.  We also affirm its disposition of the CPA

claims, but reverse its decision on the FFA claim. We affirm the remaining determinations

of the circuit court.  Additionally, we grant Holidayoke’s motion to seal portions of the

record extract.

JUDGMENT OF THE CIRCUIT COURT

F O R  A N N E  A R U N D E L  C O U N T Y

AFFIRMED IN PART AND REVERSED IN

PART. COSTS TO BE PAID TWO-THIRDS

BY APPELLANTS AND ONE-THIRD BY

APPELLEE.
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